097

FILED
SID J. WAITE
AUG 1 1991
CLERK, SUPREME COURTE

Chief Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FREDERICK CAVE,

Petitioner,

Case No. 77,937

vs.

District Court of Appeal, 1ST District - No.89-01694

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE FIRST DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

georgner.Aschaufer

FLORIDA BAR NO. 308870 15 S.E. SEVENTH STREET GAINESVILLE, FLORIDA 32601 (904) 338-1111

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

Thompson v. State. 548 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1989) 22	2. 35

Walls v. State. — So.2d, 16 FLW S254 (Fla., April 11. 1991)
White v. State So.2d, 16 FLW D1338 (Fla. 2d DCA. May 15. 1991)
<u>Williams _ State</u> . 504 So.2d 392 (Fla. 1987) 8. 38. 44
Wright v. State. 573 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) 17
UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION
Fifth Amendment
Fourteenth Amendment 10. 12. 22. 23. 25. 31. 34. 35. 47
FLORIDA CONSTITUTION
Article I. §2
Article I. §9
Section 12 of the Declaration of Rights
of the 1885 Constitution
FLORIDA STATUTES
921.001, Fla. Stat
\$3775.021. Fla. Stat

### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FREDERICK CAVE,

Petitioner,

Case No. 77,937

vs.

District Court of Appeal, 1ST District - No.89-01694

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

# I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Frederick Cave was the defendant in the trial court. He will be referred to in this brief as "petitioner," "defendant," or by his proper name. Reference to the record on appeal will be used by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses and reference to the transcript of the trial proceedings or sentencing hearing will be used by the symbol "T" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

1

# II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

An Alachua County jury found petitioner **Frederick** Cave guilty of the offenses of burglary of an occupied dwelling while armed, robbery with a deadly weapon, and aggravated battery (R-58-59). Petitioner Frederick Cave appealed his convictions and sentences to the District Court of Appeal, First District, of Florida. The First District Court of Appeal affirmed Mr. Cave's convictions and sentences in a per curiam opinion filed April 4, 1991.

The First District Court of Appeal rejected Mr. Cave's double jeopardy argument but certified conflict with the Second and Fifth District Courts of Appeal. The First District Court of Appeal also found no merit to Mr. Cave's contention that his involuntary and coerced confession to the police that was admitted into evidence at the jury trial requires reversal of his convictions and affirmed "without discussion" of this issue. Finally, the First District Court of Appeal upheld the trial court's deviation from the sentencing guidelines, but also certified to this court a question of great importance. Petitioner Frederick Cave seeks discretionary review by this court of this opinion by the First District Court of Appeal.

### A. DOUBLE JEOPARDY ISSUE

The evidence presented at Frederick Cave's jury trial showed that a man entered the apartment of Dee Ann Cox, without her

consent, and struck her so that she fell to the floor of the livingroom (T-49). The man proceeded to take an artist's knife that Ms. Cox had been using for a graphics project and held it to her throat (T-47-48; 51). The man told Ms. Cox that he would kill her if she did not "shut up" and asked Ms. Cox whether she had any money. Ms. Cox then gave the man her purse which contained \$30.00 (T-55).

Ms. Cox noticed that the man was bleeding on his right forearm and she gave him a light colored towel (T-53; 55). The man dropped the knife on the way out of the apartment. Ms. Cox, who was not injured from the knife, discovered that the robber had left blood everywhere in the apartment (T-53-54).

A Gainesville police officer was dispatched to the victim's apartment to investigate the attack (T-65). Approximately two hours later the officer learned from a dispatcher that authorities had located an injured man found on a lady's porch approximately four blocks away from the victim's residence. (T-68; 82). The investigating officer then proceeded to this location and observed defendant Frederick Cave with a light pink facial towel wrapped around his arm that was soaked with blood (T-69). The investigating officer also noticed a cut under the right forearm (T-70). Frederick Cave was then taken to Alachua General Hospital for treatment (T-74).

The police did not conduct a photo line-up or a live line-up involving the defendant (T-63). Instead, the victim was taken

to Alachua General Hospital for a show-up with the defendant in which she identified the defendant as the robber (T-84).

An Alachua General Hospital nurse was permitted to testify over objection that a medical chart indicated that the defendant stabbed himself with an artist's knife around 7:30 P.M. (T-115-117). The nurse acknowledged that she had no recall of the defendant actually saying that but that is what she wrote in the chart (T-117). A serologist testified that blood found an the recovered artist's knife and at the victim's apartment was of the same type as the defendant's blood (T-148-150). The police were not able to locate the pink towel that the defendant was seen with when he was first found by the authorities despite a search (T-111). The parties also stipulated to the jury that an expert was unable to locate any latent fingerprints of any person on the knife (T-155).

The defendant's trial counsel during a motion for judgment of acquittal argued that Mr. Cave could not be convicted of both aggravated battery and armed robbery where there was only one weapon involved. The trial court judge denied the motion but added, "...the appellate court will have to straighten this out" (T-171). The First District Court of Appeal, for the reasons stated in its opinion, rejected Mr. Cave's argument on appeal that his convictions and sentences for both aggravated battery and armed robbery constitutes a double jeopardy violation.

### B. INVOLUNTARY CONFESSION ISSUE

The state placed into evidence before the jury a 5" by 7" color photo of the defendant's arm (state's exhibit 2). During the course of the trial the parties were in agreement that petitioner Frederick Cave almost died from the injury to his arm. The prosecutor stated during his closing argument to the jury:

In fact, he almost killed himself with this weapon by cutting himself so severely, and you can look at all the photographs. I know you have already, but you can take them back to the jury room and see the kind of wound that he inflicted **on** himself.

(T-187-188. The trial court judge opined at sentencing the following:

She [the victim] was a very fortunate girl because when  ${\tt Mr.}$  Cave reached around and pulled the knife he sliced his **own arm,** almost killing himself.

(T-249).

A hearing was conducted outside the presence of the jury on the day of the defendant's jury trial for a determination by the trial court judge of the admissibility of the defendant's incriminating statements made at Alachua General Hospital (R-25). At this hearing the investigating officer testified that when the defendant was first located paramedics were unwrapping his arm to put gauze an it (T-11). It looked as though the defendant had been bleeding "quite a bit" (T-11). After Mr. Cave was taken to Alachua General Hospital, the investigating officer testified that he went to the emergency room of the hospital to talk to Mr. Cave (T-4). By that time the bleeding had stopped

(T-12). Further medical attention was given to Mr. Cave at this time which included the use of an oxygen tube around Mr. Cave's face and a saline solution (T-11), The officer testified that he was told that Mr. Cave had been given a local medication but nothing else (T-12).

The investigating officer testified that after Miranda was given the defendant did not refuse to answer questions and at no time did he request to talk to an attorney (T-14). He was asked where the purse was and he stated that the purse was no good anymore (T-6; T-77). The defendant stated that if they would give him some food he would tell them where the purse was (T-7). He advised that the purse was covered with blood (T-6). He was asked whether he knew whether the lady was in the house when he went inside the house and he responded, "Shit, what do you think?" (T-7; T-77). When he was asked how he got cut, he initially responded that he had fell down but when questianed further he stated that he did cut himself (T-7).

When the defendant was **asked** if **the** girl (referring to the victim) had cut him, he replied that that girl could not hurt him (T-7; T-77). The request for **food** was repeated at the jail when the defendant was later booked in after discharge from the

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Medical personnel who actually treated Mr. Cave were not called to testify at this hearing as to the actual treatment Mr. Cave received in the emergency room including whether he had received any type of medication.

hospital (T-8; T-80). When the defendant was told he was being charged with burglary at the jail he stated, "You can charge me with that. I did the house." (T-8; T-80). The investigating officer testified that he felt the defendant was lucid and coherent when he made these statements (T-14; T-76).

The defendant during this hearing gave testimony which conflicted with the officer's testimony. The defendant testified among other things that he could not recall making statements to the police and that he had been cut during a drug transaction (T-15-16). The trial court judge did not find the defendant's testimony credible and further rejected defense counsel's arguments that the defendant's incriminating statements were not voluntary. The court ruled:

••.I do find that his statement to the officer, to Officer Maresca [the investigating police officer] was intelligently and knowingly made. So, the statement will be admitted.

#### (T-22-23).

In the appeal to the First District Court of Appeal Frederick Cave unsuccessfully argued that the trial court committed reversible error by not making a specific finding that the confession was freely and voluntarily given and by permitting the involuntary confession to be admitted into evidence at the defendant's jury trial.

### C. DEPARTURE SENTENCE ISSUE

Before Mr. Cave's sentencing for the burglary of an occupied dwelling while armed, robbery with a deadly weapon and aggravated

battery offenses, Mr. Cave's prior criminal record consisted of five misdemeanors and one third-degree felony: a burglary of a structure (R-68; T-243-244). During the sentencing hearing, defense counsel did not object to the trial prosecutor's reference to the presentence investigation (PSI) report which discussed the circumstances of the previous burglary. burglary Mr. Cave reportedly entered an occupied dwelling and strangled the victim for a full minute and a half before Mr. Cave was allowed to plead to the lesser releasing him. included offense of burglary of a structure because the victim moved (T-243-244). For this earlier burglary  $M_r$ . Cave was placed on probation and ultimately sentenced to thirty months for a violation of probation,

Mr. Cave fell within the five and one-half to seven year cell of the recommended range of the sentencing guidelines and the four and one-half to nine year cell of the permitted range of the sentencing guidelines (R-68). The trial court judge granted the prosecutor's request to depart from the guidelines because Mr. Cave had anly been released from the Department of Corrections nineteen days before the new offenses were committed. On the sentencing guidelines scoresheet, the court penned in the following reason for departure:

Released from D.O.C. nineteen days before this offense committed. <u>State v. Williams</u>, **504** So.2d 392 (Fla. 1987) F.S. 921.001

(R-68). No other reasons for departure were given. There was

no finding by the court as to whether the defendant's criminal record reflected an escalating pattern of criminal conduct. Mr. Cave was sentenced to two concurrent life sentences for the burglary and robbery offenses and fifteen years on the aggravated battery offense.

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the departure sentence but certified the following question to this court to be of great public importance:

DOES THE TEMPORAL PROXIMITY OF CRIMES ALONE PROVIDE A VALID REASON FOR DEPARTURE FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES WITHOUT A FINDING OF A PERSISTENT PATTERN OF CRIMINAL CONDUCT?

The State of Florida moved the First District Court of Appeal for rehearing and clarification. The state argued that the certified question is not grounded on the facts within the record and alleged "the underlying factual predicate for appellant's departure sentence establishes a pattern of escalating violence." Petitioner's counsel filed opposition to this motion and argued that the record did not show, and the trial court judge did not find, a pattern of escalating violence to justify the departure sentence. The First District Court of Appeal rejected the state's argument and denied the state's motion for rehearing and clarification on May 7, 1991.

This timely appeal follows. Petitioner invokes the discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida to review the decision of the First District Court of Appeal.

# III SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Issue I, infra, it is argued that the First District has committed reversible error Court of Appeal interpretation of \$775.021(4)(b)3, Fla. Stat., one of exceptions to legislative intent of the so-called Carawan override. The First District Court of Appeal has found that the legislature now intends to allow a person to be convicted and sentenced of an offense and a permissive lesser included offense from the same act. Because this holding is certified to be in conflict with at least two other district courts of appeal, the right not to be placed in jeopardy twice for the same act is no longer uniform throughout the state. The interpretation advocated by the First District Court of Appeal is tantamount to holding that the legislature intended to abolish permissive There is no evidence the legislature lesser includeds. contemplated such a radical change in the law.

In Issue 11, infra, it is argued that the First District Court of Appeal committed reversible error in apparently finding the use of petitioner Frederick Cave's coerced confession harmless error. The harmless error doctrine does not apply under Article I, \$9 of the Florida Constitution. The mere use of a coerced confession at a defendant's trial is repugnant to basic notions of fairness under the Florida Constitution. With respect to the Fourteenth Amendment, the harmless error doctrine does

apply, but the First District Court of Appeal misapplied that doctrine. The State of Florida failed to prove beyond **a** reasonable doubt that the confession by petitioner Frederick Cave at the emergency room did not contribute to the guilty verdicts by the jury.

 $\parallel$ 

In Issue III, infra, it is argued that the First District Court of Appeal erred in finding that temporal proximity alone is a sufficient reason to deviate from the sentencing quidelines. The First District Court of Appeal has certified this question to the Supreme Court of Florida as one of great public importance. Following the certification, the Supreme Court of Florida reaffirmed its previous holding in which it held that in addition to temporal proximity for deviation from the sentencing quidelines there must be a finding by the trial court that the defendant's criminal history reflects an escalating pattern. The First District Court of Appeal did not have the advantage of this holding, and it was too late for petitioner Frederick Cave to move the First District Court of Appeal for rehearing when this new Supreme Court of Florida decision was rendered. The certified question must be answered in the negative.

#### IV ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTIONS AND SENTENCES FOR BOTH AGGRAVATED BATTERY AND ARMED ROBBERY VIOLATE THE FEDERAL AND STATE PROHIBITIONS PLACING A DEFENDANT TWICE IN JEOPARDY FOR THE SAME ACT.

The defendant's convictions for armed robbery and aggravated battery are based on one act: placing a knife to the victim's person and while touching her with the knife demanding her money and purse (T-51-52). The First District Court of Appeal committed reversible error by finding that the dual convictions for armed robbery and aggravated battery based on this one act did not violate the double jeopardy bar of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, §9 of the Florida Constitution. The First District Court of Appeal has misconstrued §775.021(4), Fla. Stat. which is the so-called legislative override of the Supreme Court of Florida's decision in Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1987).

In the <u>Carawan</u> case the Supreme Court of Florida held that where there is a reasonable basis **for** concluding that the legislature did not intend multiple punishments, the rule of lenity contained in §775.021(1) and Florida's common law require that the court find that multiple punishments are impermissible. Where the accused is charged under two statutory provisions that

manifestly address the same evil and no clear evidence of legislative intent exists, the Supreme Court of Florida heldthat the most reasonable conclusion usually is that the legislature did not intend to impose multiple punishments.

For example, an appellate court held under a <u>Carawan</u> analysis that when battery occurred contemporaneously with a robbery and formed one of its elements, the battery conviction and sentence constitutes double jeopardy. <u>Hall v. State</u>, 549 So.2d **758** (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) citing <u>McCloud v. State</u>, 335 So.2d **257** (Fla. 1976); <u>Montsdoca v. State</u>, 93 So. 157 (1922).

The Florida legislature in response to the <u>Carawan</u> decision amended §775.021(4) to include a specific statement of legislative intent. The italicized language sets out the amendment to the statement of legislative intent.

- (4)(a) Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts which constitute one or more separate criminal offenses, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt, shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense; and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively. For the purposes of this subsection, offenses are separate if each offense requires proof of an element that the other does not, without regard to the accusatory pleading or the proof adduced at trial.
- (b) The intent of the Legislature is to convict and sentence for each criminal offense committed in the course of one criminal episode or transaction and not to allow the principle of lenity as set forth in subsection (1) to determine legislative intent. Exceptions to this rule of construction are:
- 1. Offenses which require identical elements of proof.

- 2. Offenses which are degrees of the same offense as provided by statute.
- 3. Offenses which are lesser offenses the statutory elements of which are subsumed by the greater offense.

Ch. 88-131, §7, Laws of Fla.

The Supreme Court of Florida has interpreted this legislative amendment to indicate that the court's finding regarding legislative intent in <u>Carawan</u> was incorrect. reason Carawan has now been characterized as evolutionary refinement of decisional law...." State v. Glenn, 558 So. 2d 4, 9 (Fla. 1990); see also Love v. State, 559 So. 2d 198 (Fla. 1990). The Supreme Court of Florida in dicta in State v. Smith, 547 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1989) concluded among other things that the legislature rejects the distinction that the court had drawn between act or acts and now requires that multiple punishment shall be imposed for separate offenses even if only The court also in dicta stated that one act is involved. §775.021(4)(a) should be strictly applied "without judicial gloss." The court went on to actually hold that the override of <u>Carawan</u> would not be retroactively applied because of **ex** post facto considerations. Justice Rosemary Barkett predicted in her dissenting opinion in smith that the lower courts would be "thrown helter-skelter back to the pre-Carawan muddle." v. Smith, supra at 619.

Long before the Carawan decision and the later override by

the legislature, the Supreme Court of Florida agreed with a recommendation to consolidate two of the four categories of lesserincluded offenses established in Brown v. State, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1968). The two separate categories mandated by the court consisted of:

- 1. Offenses necessarily included in the offense charged, which will include some lesser degrees of offenses; and
- 2. Offenses which may or may not be included in the offense charged, depending on the accusatory pleading and the evidence, which will include all attempts and some lesser degrees of offenses.

In The Matter Of Use By The Trial Courts Of Standard Jury Instructions In Criminal Cases, 431 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1981). The legislature in its amendment to \$775.021(4) did not clearly address what impact, if any, the change in the legislative intent should have for lesser included offenses.

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