047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SIDJJ WHITE
1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Crk Chief Deputy Clerk

FREDERICK CAVE,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 77,937

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Alachua County, Florida

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARLIE MCCOY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0333646

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

attempt to exculpate himself from robbery. Statements made to police officers after receipt and acknowledgment of <u>Miranda</u> rights are voluntary, unless surrounding circumstances indicate otherwise. <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 360, 365 (Fla. 1986). Having attempted to benefit from this impulsive declaration, Cave should not be able to mischaracterize it as the product of coercion.

Cave remained sufficiently lucid to bargain information for food, assert that the "girl" could not hurt him, and attempt to exculpate himself from another more serious crime. He never asserted innocence as to the burglary. Perhaps falling sway to his own defense, Cave cannot distinguish himself from the defendant in Reddish v. State, 167 So.2d 858 (Fla. 1964). There, the defendant attempted suicide after committing murder; he inflicted a very serious injury near his heart. Under intensive medicine treatment at the hospital, Reddish was given intravenously for infection, blood clotting, and severe pain. The last was a combination of codeine and repeated doses of demerol, which finally cause Reddish to sleep. He confessed twice upon being aroused. Id. at 861, n.1. Under these circumstances, Reddish's confession was held involuntary. Id. at 863.

Cave's situation in no way approaches the conditions in Reddish. A bloody wound was stitched up. (T 117). Cave was given only a local painkiller, antibiotics (T 117), and saline fluid intravenously for blood loss. He always appeared lucid, and spoke coherently. He was obviously responsive, and could be moved to the jail after a couple hours' treatment. There is simply no reasonable comparison between Cave and Reddish. Moreover, the mere fact that Cave was under the influence of a local painkiller does not render his statements involuntary. See Thomas v. State, 456 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1984)(confession voluntary despite suspect's being under the influence of alcohol).

Cave's historical analysis under the heading "Fourteenth Amendment Due Process" (initial brief, **p.** 23-7) requires no response. He next has a problem with the specificity of the trial court's finding that the confession was voluntary. (initial brief, **p.** 28). This is remarkable in light of the court's response at the conclusion of the pretrial suppression hearing. Recognizing that the real issue was voluntariness, not whether the crucial events occurred, the court declared:

THE COURT: . . The issue as raised by Mr. Fischer [Cave's trial attorney, who just argued no knowing and intelligent waiver of Miranda rights could have occurred] is really the issue that has to be faced.

Mr. Cave's testimony is inconsistent with itself. I can't really believe that Mr. Cave is telling the truth here this morning, and I do find that his statement to the officer, to Officer Maresca was intelligently and knowingly made. So, the statement will be admitted. (T 22-3)(empahasis supplied).

Cave claims that the court's ruling "was not a sufficient finding that the confession was voluntary." (initial brief, p. 28). With the possible exception of using the word "voluntary," it is difficult to imagine how the court could have been more precise. Finally, the trial judge "need not recite a finding of voluntasiness if his having made such a finding is apparent from the record." Hoffman v. State, 474 So.2d 1178, 1181 (Fla. 1985); Antone v. State, 382 So.2d 1205 (Fla. 1980), cert. denied, 449 U.S. S.Ct. 287, 66 L.Ed.2d 141 (1980)(finding 913, 101 voluntariness does not require specific words, but must be ascertainable from the record). Here, the finding voluntariness is readily apparent.

The State took exception to Cave's self-portrait at the outset of this issue. The State takes greater exception to his misguided tactic on appeal. The First District declared that Cave's argument on this issue had "no merit." (slip op., p. 6). Ignoring the words in the opinion, Cave speculates that the First District found admission of the "involuntary confession . . . was

harmless error." (initial brief, p. 29). This is completely wrong and misleading to this court. Nothing in the decision below indicates that admission of the confession was even error. Nothing indicates that the First District applied any harmless error analysis, much less that it "misapplied the harmless error analysis". (initial brief, p. 29-31).

If Cave wants to anticipate the State's harmless error argument, and point to **facts** that would weigh against harmlessness; such is his right. But to depict the opinion below as being grounded on an improper harmless error analysis -- when the opinion's only operative language is "no merit" -- is misleading at best. There is nothing to indicate the First District, as Cave imagines, "merely substituted itself for the jury." (initial brief, p. 29).

Cave next claims that a recent First District decision advocates expansion of the harmless error doctrine as applied to confessions, That case, <u>Guess v. State</u>, 16 F.L.W. D1361 (Fla. 1st DCA May 13, 1991), certified a question which cited <u>Arizona v. Fulminate</u>, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 59 U.S.L.W. 4235 (U.S. March 26, 1991)(coerced confession may be harmless error), The question in <u>Guess</u> is whether failure to allow a defendant to testify, outside the jury's presence, as to the voluntariness of a confession can be harmless error. *Id.* at 1362. Notably, the Guess court

reversed in light of that failure, declining to consider the error harmless.

<u>Fulminate</u> issued nine days before the opinion below, which preceded <u>Guess</u> by about five weeks. According to Cave, the relatively short time between each decision "reinforces" (initial brief, **p.** 29) his conclusion that **the** decision below found his confession to be coerced but harmlessly admitted.

The State stresses that Cave's conclusion is no more than idle speculation, in light of the words actually used in the opinion below. Accordingly, the State cannot, and will not, argue whether the First District applied the correct harmless error analysis. The State does not accept Cave's unfounded speculation that the court even considered the admission to be erroneous.

However, the State will set forth why admission of the incriminating statements, if error, could properly be found to be harmless, The correct test is whether admission, beyond reasonable doubt, had no effect on the outcome of the verdict. Fulminate, supra, 5 F.L.W.Fed. S149 at 153 (state must show, beyond reasonable doubt, that admission of the confession did not contribute to the conviction); State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986)(harmless error test, as applied to comments on defendant's right against self-incrimination, requires the state

to prove "that there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the conviction").

Turning to the evidence, far more is revealed than Cave acknowledges. He entered the victim's apartment about 7:30 p.m. on September 19 (T 47-8), obviously during daylight hours. response to a rustling sound, the victim went to her front (screen) door. Cave came through that door. (T49). He knocked the victim, who struggled with him face-to-face (T49-50), to the The room was lit, so that the victim could clearly see his face. (T 50). Cave turned the victim on her stomach, then back over to threaten her with the knife. (T 51). He made the victim give him her purse. (T 52). She notice his right forearm was bleeding a lot (T53), and gave him a towel. (T53). Cave put the towel on his arm and dropped the knife. (T 53). victim identified the knife, in court, as hers (T 55); then as "an" X-acto knife. (T 64). She described Cave's facial appearance that day in detail (T 55-6), and readily identified him in court. (T 56-7).

The police arrived in abaut ten minutes. They took photos and samples of the blood strewn about the apartment. (T 58). Within several hours, the police contacted the victim and took her to the hospital emergency room. (T 59). They asked only if she could "identify someone." (T 59). Within ten

minutes she was shown a man in a cubicle. She had no doubt the man was Cave (T60), and based her identification on his face. (T62). On cross-examination, the victim stated that she did not recall police saying anything suggesting Cave was the person who attacked her. (T62).

The first responding officer (Maresca) went to the victim's apartment and saw blood everywhere. (T 66). He left and continued routine patrol, until he was dispatched to an injured or sick black male lying on a porch about four blocks from the victim's apartment. This was shortly before 10:00 p.m. (T 68), or only 2½ hours after the crime. Maresca went to the man, whose description (T 69) matched that given earlier by the victim. A bloodstained towel was wrapped around his right arm. (T 69). Observing medical technicians at work, Maresca testified the man's right arm was cut on the underside of the forearm. (T 70). Maresca identified the man as Cave, (T 71-2).

Maresca returned to the victim's apartment and asked her if she would take a look at someone matching the description she had given, to see if he was the individual that committed the crime. (T72). They went to the hospital.

When the victim first approached him, Cave turned his head away, another circumstance indicating guilt. When he faced the victim, he was immediately identified twice without

hesitation. (T 75, 85, 88). Cave does not here, nor did he below, challenge the propriety of this show-up identification.

Officer Folks arrived at the victim's apartment after Officer Maresca. (T 102). He also observed blood everywhere, from which he collected samples. (T 102-3). Later, he took blood samples from Cave at the hospital. (T 108). These samples matched. (T 147-50).

In addition to this evidence, these were Cave's statements to the emergency room nurse (Carrie). While objected to at trial and raised before the First District, admission of the nurse's testimony as to these statements is not challenged before this court.

Nurse Carrie entered notes onto Cave's emergency charts⁹ (T 122-4). Cave gave an explanation for his injury; he told the nurse that he stabbed himself with an artist's knife about 7:30 p.m. (T 124). This statement is significant. It puts an "artist's knife" in Cave's hand about the time of his assault on

The State takes exception to Cave's observation (initial brief, p. 31) that the victim's identification of Cave was made under "highly suggestive circumstances." This is an oblique attempt to challenge the identification, something not done at trial or on appeal to the First District.

Ultimately, the statement, and apparently the charts, were admitted, as the court overruled the defense objection based on predicate. (T 127).

the victim. It was entered on the charts as he said it. (T 125).

On recall, Officer Maresca testified that Cave had a gold tooth in front (T156), which Masesca observed while talking to him at the jail and hospital. Earlier, the victim testified that during the assault, she noticed that Cave had "something metallic in his mouth." (T64).

In contrast to Cave's extremely terse account of the evidence he deems "permissible" (initial brief, p. 30), jurors heard all of the above, excluding the incriminating statements or confession at issue. Given the clarity and of the victim's testimony; her accuracy unchallenged identification of him only 2 to 3 hours later; the matching of the blood samples; the towel observed by Officer Maresca on Cave's right arm but not recovered; the gold tooth testimony compared to the victim's observation of "something metallic in his mouth"; that Cave was found only four blocks from the crime scene; that Cave admitted to a stab injury with an artist's knife; that Cave's injury was on the right forearm as observed by the victim at the time of the assault, and later by Officer Maresca; and that Cave turned his head to prevent his identification by the victim; the admission of the challenged statements was harmless. Beyond reasonable doubt, the statements

did not affect the verdict. If their admission were error, that error was harmless. Fulminate, DiGuilio; supra.

Superficially, Cave's most interesting point is whether the Florida Constitution, in Art. I, §9, confers a greater right to due process than does the United States Constitution. However, Cave overlooks the fact that the test for harmless error announced in <u>DiGuilio</u>, and applied to comments on a defendant's right to silence, is substantively identical to the test articulated in <u>Fulminate</u>. The state constitutional right against self-incrimination is found in Art. I, §9. Implicitly, §9 is satisfied by the <u>DiGuilio</u> test for harmlessness. If the two tests for harmless error are the same, it follows that **the** state and federal constitutional rights to due process are the same; at least as to self-incrimination.

Moreover, Florida's harmless error statute (§924.33) has remained unchanged since at least 1947. See <u>DiGuilio</u>, supra, 491 So.2d at 1133-4 (discussing historic evolution of harmless error statutes). Section 924.33, operative at the time of <u>Reddish</u>, played a crucial role in <u>DiGuilio</u>. Application of the <u>DiGuilio</u> test for harmless error satisfies the statute. Nothing relied upon by Cave suggests that the harmless error statute is deficient under the state constitution.

Reddish, supra, does not teach otherwise. That court held that reversal is required if a coerced confession was "allowed as a link in the chain of evidence." Id., 167 \$0.2d at 863. Cited immediately are two United States Supreme Court cases: Rogers v. Richmond, 365 U.S. 534, 541, 81 \$.Ct. 735, 5 L.Ed.2d 760 (1960); and Townsend v. Sain, 372 U.S. 293, 307, 83 \$.Ct. 745, 9 L.Ed.2d 770 (1963). By relying upon federal authority, this court could hardly be implying that the state right to due process exceeds the federal.

State v. Cayward, 552 So.2d 971 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), rev. dismissed, 562 So.2d 347 (Fla, 1990), is readily distinguishable. There, the police manufactured false documents to obtain a confession, The Second District found that production of false, official-looking reports was unacceptable, but relied on federal and state authority equally. In fact, the court said that police conduct offended "traditional notions of due process of law under both the federal and state constitutions." Id. at 974. Nothing in Cayward or the other cases cited by Cave indicates these notions are more stringent under Florida law.

Only Cave's discussion of <u>Wells v. State</u>, 580 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1991), needs further response. There, the defendant -- awaiting trial for two murders -- was under observation by a correctional officer. She told Wells that anything he said would

be confidential, and not to tell his attorney. Wells' ensuing statements and behavior were noted; these notes were relied upon by the State's experts to conclude Wells was competent to stand trial. *Id.* at 132. The court focused, by analogy to cases involving confessions, on the method of obtaining the statements; not whether they were voluntary. *Id.* at 133 ("due process requires an examination of the particular methods").

Here, there was no subterfuge at all. Cave was carefully given his <u>Miranda</u> warnings. Questioning by the police was not long or intensive. The methads were above-board and complied with routine practice. No deception has even been alleged.

Returning to <u>Wells</u>, this court **said**: "[t]he due process provision of the Florida Constitution embodies the principles of fundamental fairness elaborated by Justice Brennan in <u>Perkins</u>."

Id. at 133, citing <u>Illinois v. Perkins</u>, U.S. ____, 110 S.Ct.

2394, 110 L.Ed.2d 243 (1990). This statement is significant, as this court -- through the quoted part of <u>Wells</u> -- relied on federal cases and did not distinguish between federal and state constitutional rights to due process.

Cave relies on <u>Wells</u> to maintain his statements, not obtained by subterfuge, could not be admitted at trial. **He**

overlooks the fact that, in <u>Wells</u>, admissibility at <u>trial</u> to rested equally on federal and state grounds, which were not distinguished. <u>Wells</u> does not stand for the proposition that Cave's statements were barred by the Florida Constitution regardless of their admissibility under the federal.

To sum: Cave's statements were voluntary and properly admitted, If the statements were not voluntary, their admission was harmless error under the leading federal case (Fulminate) and Florida case (DiGuilio).

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE UNDERLYING FACTS ESTABLISH COMMISSION OF A SUCCESSIVE CRIMINAL EPISODE MORE SIGNIFICANT THAN THE FIRST (Restated)

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